IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-IA-228-SCT

DAVID E. CONWILL

APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Comes now David E. Conwill ("Conwill"), Appellant herein, pursuant to M.R.A.P. 5(a) and appeals to this Court to reverse rulings of 19 November 2009 and 4 February 2010 by the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi which denied his motions to dismiss a Perjury Indictment as an Habitual Offender. Copies of the denied motions were submitted as exhibits to Conwill's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal in this case, along with copies of the orders denying his motions and a copy of the current indictment. Conwill submits to this Court that the lower court erred in that this indictment should have been dismissed with prejudice based on the following issues of law:

- Res Judicata and violation of long-held principles of finality inherent in a guilty plea as established by Newly Discovered Evidence;
- (2) Violation of the Third Prong of the Double Jeopardy Clause of both the United States and Mississippi Constitutions banning multiple punishments for the same alleged offense;
- (3) Double Jeopardy based on *Blockburger* criteria;
- (4) Double Jeopardy based on Collateral Estoppel as proved by Newly Discovered Evidence;
- (5) Lack of Two Contradictory Sworn Statements and Other Insufficient Level of Proof; and
- (6) Violation of Due Process Rights Under the 6th and 14th Amendments.

Conwill submits that the State of Mississippi's prosecution of him for perjury as an habitual offender cannot proceed because it is absolutely barred when the applicable law is applied to the undisputed facts herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the 11th of September, 2007, Appellant ("Conwill") was stopped in Ridgeland, Mississippi by Narcotics Deputy Trey Curtis of the Madison County Sheriff's Department. After a search of Conwill's car, he was charged with possession of a small amount of crack cocaine. Conwill stated at the time of the said stop, and later testified at a Habeas Corpus Hearing on the 20th of September, 2007, that he believes the person in the car with him, Kimberly McDaniel, who was released at the scene uncharged, hid her cocaine under his seat during the time the officer was occupied with him. The Circuit Court (Judge Chapman) ruled against Conwill at this Habeas Corpus hearing, revoked his bail on a prior DUI charge, denied him bail on the new charges, and ordered him incarcerated pending action of the grand jury. Conwill was subsequently indicted on all charges (Exhibit A) and remained incarcerated until a plea agreement was negotiated by his attorney and the District Attorney in February, 2008. On October 30, 2007, Defendant made an unsworn statement by telephone, recorded from the Madison County Detention Center, that appeared to contradict his testimonial account of events and knowledge of the material issue of the presence of the drugs found in his car. This unsworn statement is the basis for the current indictments in this matter. After his attorney's negotiation with the District Attorney's office, and prompted by the District Attorney's citing of the recorded telephone call, Conwill agreed to enter a plea relating to the possession of the cocaine as stated in the indictment as well as a plea to his indictment for the prior DUI. Conwill agreed to his pleas expecting finality of the charges. Pursuant to this plea agreement, Conwill executed via counsel the standard petition to enter a guilty plea to possession of cocaine (Cause Number 2007-0533) and felony DUI (Cause Number 2007-0534) on the 20th of February, 2007. At his plea hearing, when questioned by Judge Richardson, Conwill stated that he preferred to plead "no contest in

my best interest" to the possession charge, but Judge Richardson refused to agree to this and Conwill ultimately pled "guilty" to the possession of cocaine. As reflected in Judge Richardson's Judgment of Conviction and Sentence Instanter on the 21st of February, 2007, Conwill's pleas were accepted as guilty pleas by the Court. Conwill was adjudicated guilty of the charges and sentences were imposed. Conwill has since complied with all aspects of his sentences, including completion of the imposed year of house arrest, and he has paid in full all of his assessed Madison County fines and fees for these convictions. After final adjudication of his original charges, the District Attorney's Office obtained a Perjury Indictment (Madison County Cause Number 2009-0203-C -- Exhibit B). The Perjury Indictment charges Conwill with testifying falsely during his Habeas Corpus hearing after his arrest on the possession charge. Along with the Perjury Indictment, a concurrent Non-violent Habitual Offender Indictment was obtained. The District Attorney's office has obtained the current indictments based on elements in the chain of events of the charge to which Conwill entered a guilty plea and has already been punished, as to the knowing possession of drugs, his habeas corpus hearing testimony in his own defense, and the apparent contradictory statement made in a recorded unsworn telephone conversation with a female acquaintance, Paige Cockrell, made while Conwill was incarcerated but before his guilty pleas were negotiated with the District Attorney.

Conwill filed motions with the Circuit Court of Madison County to dismiss these indictments with prejudice based on grounds of *Res Judicata*, double jeopardy based on both *Blockburger* criteria and collateral estoppel, violation of the third prong of the Double Jeopardy Clause, violation of due process rights under the 6th and 14th amendments, and grounds of the lack of two contradictory <u>sworn</u> statements as the basis of the State's "proof."

Subsequent to the motion hearings on this case conducted November 19, 2009, in response to a granted motion to compel additional discovery, the District Attorney's office over

their objections, released to Conwill's Attorneys a relevant letter outlining the State's plea offer to Conwill's former attorney over the signature of Madison County District Attorney Michael Guest, dated February 13, 2008, (Exhibit C) as attached, which contains:

"I spoke with the Madison County Sheriff's Department after you left and I was informed that they had a recorded phone conversation where your client admitted to possessing the controlled substance in question. Your client was speaking with his girlfriend about the case and he admitted to knowing about the narcotics. I was also informed that your client had tested positive for cocaine. <u>Based upon this new</u> <u>information</u> I will make you the same offer, but your client will have to plea on both charges and I will agree to run them concurrently". (underline added)

Conwill then filed a motion to dismiss on grounds that this newly discovered evidence

confirmed his prior arguments for dismissal based on collateral estoppel and *Res Judicata*. The lower court denied all of Conwill's motions to dismiss. Conwill now appeals to this Court to overrule the lower Court's denial of his motions and dismiss with prejudice the Indictments in this case and bar further prosecution of these allegations.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Mississippi Code Ann. § 99-39-21 (1972, as amended) states in section (3) that "The doctrine of res judicata shall apply to all issues, both factual and legal, decided at trial and on direct appeal." Among the long-held tenants of *res judicata* is the concept that all charges or issues that were or could have been raised in an action are bared from being relitigated in any subsequent action. This is also the basis for the principles of expected finality inherent in a negotiated guilty plea. Insofar as the State's sole basis for bringing the current indictment appears to be based on an **unsworn** telephone call made by the appellant ("Conwill") while he was incarcerated under Section 29 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 after a judicial determination that his testimony during a habeas corpus hearing lacked credibility, and that the content of this unsworn telephone call was the major factor for inducing Conwill's guilty pleas, as confirmed by a letter from the District Attorney to Conwill's attorney, it would appear that any charge of perjury based on this chain of events could have been made at that point and thus is now barred by res judicata because it stands to reason that if it were not for the content of that unsworn call, no charge of perjury would now have been brought against Conwill. The level of proof historically considered necessary to prove perjury (equivalent to that required to prove treason) is simply lacking. The State cannot legally relitigate the issue used to induce Conwill's prior guilty plea, which many examples of Federal and Mississippi case law have held "represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process" [Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258 (1973) and its progeny].

The third prong of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the 5th Amendment and Article 3, Section 22 of the *Mississippi Constitution of 1890* guards against multiple punishments for the same offense as per *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969) and other case law. Mississippi case law has clearly held that the judicial officer in a habeas corpus proceeding is a

trier of facts charged with determining the credibility of any witnesses who testify therein and further, that denial of bail and incarceration constitutes punishment. Judge Chapman's finding that Conwill's testimony at his habeas corpus hearing lacked credibility and his subsequent denial of bail to Conwill resulting in Conwill's incarceration for over 5 months constitutes clear punishment for that judicial determination. Thus, any further trial and punishment based on a determination of Conwill's credibility at that self-same habeas corpus hearing would constitute an unconstitutional violation of the third prong of the double jeopardy clause.

The prosecution's proposed perjury case against Conwill violates the standards established by many, many Mississippi case law examples adopting criteria based on *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932) for determining whether 2 offenses charged as a violation of 2 distinct statutory provisions emerging from the same transaction or <u>chain of conduct</u> constitute 2 offenses or only one for double jeopardy purposes under the 5th Amendment. The critical factor as stated in Mississippi case law is whether <u>each</u> charged offense <u>as indicted</u> contains a unique element or fact which must be proved which the other offense does not (*Meeks v. State*, 604 So.2d 748 – Miss. 1992). Trial and the State's proposed proof of the indictment at bar would <u>not</u> pass muster under these criteria because the original charge required proof of the ultimate material fact about which a perjury charge could now only be sustained by proving that same ultimate material fact.

Further, allowing this indictment to go to trial would constitute double jeopardy because of collateral estoppel criteria established by *Ashe v. Swenson*, 397 U.S. 436 (1970) because establishing proof of the ultimate material fact about which the perjury is alleged would require re-litigation of the very element used to induce Conwill's guilty plea on the original charge. The use of this element in the earlier litigation is established by the newly-discovered content of the District Attorney's letter to Conwill's former attorney – a letter which the prosecution sought to withhold from Conwill when they argued against his motion for additional discovery. That letter:

over the signature of Madison County District Attorney Michael Guest, dated February 13, 2008, (Exhibit C) as attached, contained the following statements:

"I spoke with the Madison County Sheriff's Department after you left and I was informed that they had a recorded phone conversation where your client admitted to possessing the controlled substance in question. Your client was speaking with his girlfriend about the case and he admitted to knowing about the narcotics. I was also informed that your client had tested positive for cocaine. <u>Based upon this new information</u> I will make you the same offer, but your client will have to plea on both charges and I will agree to run them concurrently". (underline added)

Re-litigation of this point therefore would appear to be barred under principles of collateral estoppel as held by *Ashe v. Swenson* and its progeny.

McFee v. State, 510 So.2d 790 (Miss. 1987) unequivocally held, in a majority opinion crafted by Justice Lenore Prather, that Mississippi requires that contradictory statements introduced as "proof" of alleged perjury <u>must</u> both be <u>sworn</u> statements. The State's use of the content of an <u>unsworn</u> contradictory phone call statement in which Conwill was merely seeking to elicit sympathy from a female acquaintance thus does not satisfy the necessary criteria held by the Mississippi Supreme Court to sustain a perjury conviction. Conwill's conduct therein does <u>not</u> establish the necessary level of proof of perjury long held by the Mississippi Supreme Court and other jurisdictions.

Other jurisdictions have held that although adjudicative facts as testified can form the basis of a perjury charge, **ultimate facts** cannot. This somewhat mirrors the argument embodied in collateral estoppel. Moreover, as far back as 1920, in *Johnson v. State*, 845 So. 140, the Mississippi Supreme Court embraced the same basic principle by upholding the right of an individual to take the stand in his own defense of his version of the ultimate facts for which he is being charged without fear of a perjury charge/conviction. To do so, Conwill contends, would constitute a violation of due process rights under the 6th and 14th Amendments.

ARGUMENT

(1) Res Judicata and related aspects of double jeopardy and violation of long held principles of finality inherent in an adjudicated guilty plea:

As far back as 1912, in *McNeice v. State*, 101 Miss. 366, 58 So.3 (1912), [See also *Mississippi Code Ann*. § 99-9-59, Judicial Decision Footnote 3 (1972, as amended)], the Mississippi Supreme Court advanced the principles of finality inherent in a guilty plea which were much later expressed by the United States Supreme Court:

"a guilty plea represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process ..."[Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258 (1973); Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21 (1974); Haring v. Prosise, 462 U.S. 306 (1983); Ward v. State, 914 So.2d 332 (Miss. 2005); Thornhill v. State, 919 So.2d 238 (Miss. 2005)].

In *McNeice v. State*, as quoted in the cited reference from the *Mississippi Code Ann*. supra, the court held that:

"Where on a prosecution for an unlawful sale of liquor, defendant pleaded guilty, testimony of the alleged purchaser that he did not purchase the liquor was not material and <u>no predicate for perjury</u>."

Because the ultimate issues of fact in our case at bar have already been adjudicated by the Madison County Circuit Court with expected finality pursuant to Conwill's plea in Cause Number 2007-0533, in which that court found Conwill guilty of <u>knowingly</u> possessing cocaine, Conwill's prior testimony and alleged <u>unsworn</u> contradictory statements from a recorded telephone call he made while incarcerated do not relate to any non-adjudicated, non-concluded material matter currently pending before the court. In *Sealfon v. United States*, 332 U.S. 575 (1948) a unanimous Court held: "The doctrine of *res judicata* is applicable to criminal as well as civil proceedings, and operates to conclude those matters in issue which have been determined by a previous verdict, even though the offenses be different."

And, Mississippi Code Ann. § 99-39-21 (1972, as amended) states in section (3) that

"The doctrine of *res judicata* shall apply to <u>all</u> issues, both factual and legal, decided at trial and on direct appeal."

In Allen v. McCurry, 449 U.S. at 94 (1980), the United States Supreme Court held:

"The federal courts have traditionally adhered to the related doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. Under *res judicata*, a final judgment on the merits of an action precludes the parties or their privies from <u>relitigating</u> issues that were <u>or could have been</u> [emphasis added] raised in that action."

In the case at bar, the state had possession of the recorded <u>unsworn</u>, alleged, contradictory statement from Conwill's telephone call a full <u>3 ½ months</u> before his plea was adjudicated and he was found guilty of the predicate possession offense. Subsequent to the motion hearings on this case conducted November 19, 2009, in response to a granted motion to compel additional discovery, the District Attorney's office over their objections, released to Conwill's Attorneys a relevant letter outlining the State's plea offer to Conwill's former attorney over the signature of Madison County District Attorney Michael Guest, dated February 13, 2008, (Exhibit C) as attached, which contains:

"I spoke with the Madison County Sheriff's Department after you left and I was informed that they had a recorded phone conversation where your client admitted to possessing the controlled substance in question. Your client was speaking with his girlfriend about the case and he admitted to knowing about the narcotics. I was also informed that your client had tested positive for cocaine. <u>Based upon this new information</u> I will make you the same offer, but your client will have to plea on both charges and I will agree to run them concurrently". (underline added) To re-introduce the recording now as the underlying basis for trying to prove an alleged offense which <u>could have been brought at the time the original plea was adjudicated</u> is an unequivocal violation of the doctrine of *res judicata* as held by the U.S. Supreme court in *Allen v. McCurry*, Supra, and represents a form of <u>double jeopardy</u> as cited in the dictum put forward in *Brown v. Ohio*, 432 U.S. 161 (1977), a seminal case involving double jeopardy issues, and later repeated almost verbatim in *Harris v. Oklahoma*, 433 U.S. 682 (1977). Therein, Mr. Justice Brennan joined in the Court's opinion reversing convictions on double jeopardy grounds and, joined by Justice Marshall, cited *Ashe v. Swenson*, 397 U.S. 436 (1970) [the landmark collateral estoppel/double jeopardy case] in stating that he would have reversed "on the ground not addressed by the Court, <u>that the State did not prosecute the petitioner in a single</u> **proceeding**." (emphasis added) He went on to state that

"I adhere to the view that the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment, applied to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, requires the prosecution <u>in one proceeding</u>, except in extremely limited circumstances not present here, of all the charges against a defendant that grow out of a single criminal act, occurrence, episode, or transaction."

All of the above supports the simple, basic concept that *res judicata* is binding and conclusive for issues arising out of a criminal transaction and that the "break in the chain of events" represented by an adjudicated guilty plea "represents a merger of all the issues involved -- attempts to relitigate one or more of these alleged issues violates the fundamental tenants of *res judicata* and represent clear double jeopardy under this analysis and the case law and dicta cited.

(2) Violation of the Third Prong of the Double Jeopardy Clause:

The United States Supreme Court held in *Benton v. Maryland*, 395 U.S. 784 (1969) that the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against double jeopardy is a fundamental right enforceable against the States through the Fourteenth Amendment. This clause guards against "multiple punishments for the same offense" as per *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969) and *United States v. Halper*, 490 U.S. 435, 440 (1989). Pursuant to the 5th and 14th *Amendments to the United States Constitution*, Article 3, Section 22 of the *Mississippi Constitution of 1890*, and established Mississippi and national legal precedents, the indictments charging Conwill with perjury as an habitual offender is unconstitutional double jeopardy. The prosecution's proposed case would subject Conwill to trial, and if he were convicted, he would be subjected to additional punishment for the same offense. Judge Chapman's ruling at his habeas corpus hearing denying Conwill bail and incarcerating him for 5 ½ months is a ruling on Conwill's credibility. As noted by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Blackwell v. Sessums*, 284 So.2d 38 (Miss. 1973):

"We are also committed to the proposition that where the evidence is in conflict on this question of whether the proof is evident or presumption of guilt is great that the judge at the habeas corpus hearing is the trier of fact ..."

Quoting from Ex Parte Bridewell, 57 Miss. 39 (1879), the Blackwell Court went on to note that:

"... the judicial officer who hears the application [for bail] is the trier of the facts and acts upon the conviction that the testimony leaves upon his own mind ... he has seen the witnesses, and heard them testify under circumstances which made it his duty to attend to their bearing and <u>determine their credibility</u>."

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