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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In a recent opinion on the original jurisdiction of trial courts, which try cases, and appellate courts, which review appeals, Presiding Justice Graves, writing for a majority, said:

"The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction; it can only try questions <u>that have been tried</u> and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken. Whatever remedy appellant has is in the trial court, not in this court." *Gillett v. State*, 2010 WL 2609432, at 44 (Miss.2010)(quoting *Williams v. State*, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss.1996)). [Emphasis Added].

A more concise statement of why a jury should decide Conwill's guilt is difficult to fathom. Consistent with the spirit of *Gillett, Farris v. State*, 764 So.2d 411 (Miss.2000), *Beckwith v. State*, 615 So.2d 1134 (Miss.1992), and *De La Beckwith v. State*, 707

So.2d 547, 569-571 (Miss.1997), the State pleads that the Court refrain from entertaining Conwill's pre-trial motions to dismiss in this felony prosecution, or any other felony prosecution, where a duly empaneled Grand Jury has returned an indictment, and the State, having prevailed in pre-trial motions, intends to offer evidence at trial that an accused has committed a crime.

To avoid trial, Conwill asserts numerous theories. Conwill's double jeopardy argument is without merit. The independent crimes of perjury and possession of cocaine are separate and distinct offenses under *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932). The pre-trial defense of *res judicata* lacks merit, as Conwill's guilty plea to cocaine possession is not the basis of the second perjury indictment; consequently, the four necessary identities are not present. *Holland v. Mayfield*, 826 So.2d 665, 670 (Miss. 1999). Prosecution for cocaine possession does not merge with, or preclude, a separate perjury prosecution. *Id.*

Conwill's alleged insufficiency of evidence does not bar trial. "...this Court has never stated the indictment must specifically set out the proof necessary for a conviction." *Byrom v. State*, 863 So.2d 836, 867 (Miss.2003). For good reason, no reported decision exists where, prior to trial, this Court has adjudicated the sufficiency or admissibility of evidence against a criminal defendant. Lastly, Conwill infers that the State violated his due process rights with intentional delay or trickery. This argument lacks merit due to Conwill's failure to demonstrate any intentional delay or trickery in furtherance of tactical advantage. *De La Beckwith v. State*, 707 So.2d 547, 569-571 (Miss.1997).

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD ENTERTAIN INTERLOCUTORY APPEALS AFTER INDICTMENT, BUT BEFORE TRIAL

Considering M.R.A.P. 5 and related comments, along with the Court's inherent authority, the State respectfully pleads that this particular appeal be procedurally addressed with an en banc reconsideration of precedent set forth in Beckwith v. State, 615 So.2d 1134 (Miss. 1992). The lower court should be allowed to afford Conwill his constitutional right of having a duly sworn and empaneled jury determine guilt in a bifurcated trial. Article 6, Section 156, Mississippi Constitution of 1890; Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 2609432, at 44 (Miss.2010); State v. Culp, 823 So.2d 510, 513 (Miss. 2002); Farris v. State, 764 So.2d 411, 426 (Miss.2000); Seely v. State, 451 So.2d 213, 214-215 (Miss.1984); Hurt v. State, 420 So.2d 560 (Miss.1982); U.C.C.C.R. 6.04. Conwill's plea for this Court's intervention, as opposed to judicial review, is not ripe. Flanagan v. U.S., 465 U.S. 259, 104 S.Ct. 105 (1984); Abney v. U.S., 431 U.S. 651, 97 S.Ct. 2034 (1977); DiBella v. U.S., 369 U.S. 121, 124, 82 S.Ct. 654, 656 (1962); U.S. v. McDonald, 435 U.S. 850, 98 S.Ct. 1547 (1978). "Adherence to this rule of finality has been particularly stringent in criminal prosecutions because 'the delays and disruptions attendant upon intermediate appeal,' which the rule is designed to avoid, 'are especially inimical to the effective and fair administration of the criminal law." Abney, 431 U.S. at 656-657, 97 S.Ct. at 2038-2039 (1977). It is a fundamental principle that a prosecutor be afforded discretion over what charge to bring in any criminal trial. Farris v. State, 764 So.2d 411, 422 (Miss.2000)(quoting Watts v. State, 717 So.2d 314, 320 (Miss.1998); United States v. Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114, 99 S.Ct. 2198 (1979).

Otherwise, circuit courts will loose an ability to efficiently maintain criminal dockets. As routine arbiters of when indictments may be adjudicated by jury trials, appellate courts will be flooded with post indictment, pre-trial challenges. The practical effect is comparable to an extension of Miss.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) and 56 beyond civil claims into criminal prosecutions. Allowing criminal defendants this procedural remedy would erode the province of the grand jury in returning true bills of indictment upon probable cause, along with the circuit courts' role as a trial court of original jurisdiction. *Article 6, Section 156, Mississippi Constitution of 1890.*

In Beckwith v. State, 615 So.2d at 1136 (Miss. 1992), this Court stated:

There should be no necessity to emphasize the obvious: This case is not before us from a final conviction. It is before us on an interlocutory appeal in which Beckwith claims a Constitutional right not to even be put to trial, seeking this Court to intervene in circuit court criminal trial proceedings instituted by the State of Mississippi, stop them, and order his discharge.

This Court does not equate the right not to be wrongfully convicted as somehow giving a defendant a right not to be put to trial at all. We adhere to the wisdom stated by the United States Supreme Court in *Cobbledick v. United States*, 309 U.S. 323 at 325, 60 S.Ct. 540 at 541, 84 L.Ed. 783 at 785 (1940):

An accused is entitled to scrupulous observance of constitutional safeguards. But encouragement of delay is fatal to the vindication of the criminal law. Bearing the discomfiture and cost of a prosecution for crime even by an innocent person is one of the painful obligations of citizenship. The correctness of a trial court's rejection even of a constitutional claim made by the accused in the process of prosecution must await his conviction before its reconsideration by an appellate tribunal. (Emphasis [in original])

This Court has granted Conwill's petition for interlocutory appeal and has ordered a stay of trial. **C.P. 202**. While this argument was considered by a three Justice panel, the State respectfully prays for an *en banc* reconsideration.

II. WHETHER TRIAL IS BARRED BY *RES JUDICATA*, DOUBLE JEOPARDY OR COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL

[A] Res Judicata.

Conwill argues the trial judge erred in denying his motion to dismiss with prejudice based upon the doctrine of *res judicata*. C.P. 23-27; 155-56; 178-79.

Res judicata does not apply because the four necessary identities are not present. Holland v. Mayfield, 826 So.2d 664, 670 (Miss. 1999). In State v. Ellis, 770 So.2d 1041, 1043 (Ct.App.Miss.2000), quoting Holland v. Mayfield, 826 So.2d 664, 670 (Miss.1999), the Mississippi Supreme Court once again addressed the issue of res judicata and restated:

The rule of law known as *res judicata* holds that when a court of competent jurisdiction enters a final judgment on the merits of an action, the parties or their privies are precluded from re-litigation of claims that were decided or could have been raised in that action. *Walton v. Bourgeois*, 512 So.2d 698, 700 (Miss. 1987). There are four identities that must be present before a subsequent action may be dismissed on the grounds of *res judicata*:

(1) identity of the subject matter of the original action when compared with the action now sought to be precluded; (2) identity of underlying facts and circumstances upon which a claim is asserted and relief sought in the two actions; (3) identity of the parties to the two actions, and identity met where a party to the one action was in privity with a party to the other; and (4) identity of the quality or character of a person against whom the claim is made. *Dunaway v. W.H. Hopper & Associates*, Inc. 422 So.2d 749, 751 (Miss. 1982). A party is precluded from raising a claim in a subsequent action if the four identities of *res judicata* are present. This is so regardless of whether all grounds for possible recovery were litigated or asserted in the prior action, so long as those ground were available to a party and should have been asserted. *Dunaway* at 751 . . . *Id.* (quoting *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v.*

Berry, 669 So.2d 56, 67 (Miss. 1996)). * * * * * *

While this case law primarily has been decided in the context of civil practice, and the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure have not been extended to criminal practice and procedure, an analysis fails to warrant Conwill's argument. First, as demonstrated by the record and in other parts of this brief, the 'claim' or indictment for perjury was brought twice, in the normal course of business, and like any other case the Madison County District Attorney's office would bring. Careful analysis of the timing of events clearly shows that the State was not intentionally 'sand bagging' for strategic purposes, but rather followed the requirements of grand jury secrecy and the Court's calendar in a good faith attempt to prosecute Conwill as quickly and efficiently as possible.

When Conwill's false statements about his knowledge and possession of the cocaine failed to result in a favorable outcome in the Article III, Section 29 proceeding, Conwill elected to go forward with a concurrent guilty plea for felony driving under the influence and cocaine possession. R. 36-37, 52-53; C.P. at 130-37, 138-44. This guilty plea occurred on February 20, 2008.

Around a month and a half later, on May 7, 2008, the first perjury indictment was presented to a Madison County Grand Jury. Ex. "B." On July 1, 2008, a Madison County Grand Jury returned that indictment against Conwill in cause no. 2008-0359. Ex. "B." Discovery was provided to Conwill's new lawyer, including the September 20, 2007 habeas corpus transcript. Ex. "B." Conwill filed a motion to quash the indictment on December 2, 2008, alleging that the indictment was substantively insufficient. Ex. "B." In response, the State voluntarily filed a motion to dismiss the first indictment, and

an order was entered accordingly on March 23, 2009. Ex. "B." Conwill wrongly assumed victory, content that dismissal of the first indictment ended his travails.

On January 28, 2009, a subsequent indictment for perjury was presented to a Madison County Grand Jury and true billed. **C.P. 5.** The State prosecuted Conwill's perjury case within the parameters of docket settings, grand jury schedules and time constraints, all of which are dictated by the Madison County Circuit Court. Because the first indictment was criticized as insufficient, and consistent with *Farris v. State*, 764 So.2d 411, 421 (Miss.2000), the undersigned counsel researched perjury law and redrafted a second indictment which follows the statute and requirements of notice in all respects. Miss. Code Ann. §97-9-59; **Ex. "B;" C.P. 5.**

The subject matter of the 'original action' or indictment (cocaine possession in cause no. 2007-0533), is distinctly and elementally different compared to the first perjury indictment (cause no. 2008-0359), as well as the second perjury indictment (cause no. 2009-0203). **C.P. 5; Ex. "B."** Further, the underlying facts and circumstances in the two different crimes, together with the proof needed at trial, and the relief sought are fundamentally different. To the extent civil case law on *res judicata* applies, which the State does not concede, we respectfully submit that the doctrinal elements of the defense do not exist, and, consequently, this assignment of error is without merit.

[B] Double Jeopardy - Multiple Punishments - Blockburger Criteria.

Conwill also claims the trial court erred in denying his motion to dismiss with prejudice based on the grounds of double jeopardy argued within the context of multiple punishment for the same offense. C.P. 61-66; 155-56; 178-79. This argument is

without merit because the elements of perjury are entirely different from the elements of cocaine possession.

The perjury involved here targets false swearing about possession of cocaine and not the issue of possession *per se*. Consequently, the argument flunks the test in *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932). Each requires proof of a fact which the other does not. Adjudicating the merits of cocaine possession did not adjudicate Conwill's perjury, which had already occurred. Prosecution for cocaine possession never merged with Conwill's perjury indictments.

[C] Double Jeopardy - Collateral Estoppel.

Conwill argues the trial court erred in not granting his motion to dismiss based on grounds of collateral estoppel. **C.P. 31-37**; **155-56**; **178-79**. Collateral estoppel is not a valid defense to bar a trial. In the perjury case in chief, the State has no intention of relying in any way upon Conwill's admissions during his guilty plea as direct evidence.

Writing for the majority in *Farris v. State*, 764 So.2d at 423, then Justice Mills opined, "Collateral estoppel provides that an issue of ultimate fact which was a valid and final judgment may not be re-litigated between the same parties in a subsequent suit. *Ashe v. Swenson*, 397 U.S. 436, 90 S.Ct. 1189, 25 L.Ed.2d 469 (1970). This doctrine is a practical civil extension of the Double Jeopardy Clause in the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which states that "nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put into jeopardy of life or limb...." U.S. Const. amend. V. In *State ex rel. Moore v. Molpus*, 578 So.2d 624, 642 (Miss.1991), we held that:

The public interest in stability and repose is so paramount that collateral estoppel protects competent judgments which are subsequently thought to be erroneous. "Where the elements of estoppel have been satisfied, the court's inquiry is not whether the court's order was erroneous, but only that it was the final judgment of the case".... Our law rebuffs subsequent attempts to impeach or attach the initial judgment even where, for example (a) Additional evidence has been discovered, Cotton v. Walker, 164 Miss. 208, 224, 225, 144 So. 45, 47 (1932); (b) The substance of law has [been] incorrectly decided and applied, Fisher v. Browning, 107 Miss. 729, 739 66 So. 132, 136 (1914); or (c) Where constitutional questions have been erroneously decided.

In *Farris*, the defendant cited *Herring v. Herring*, 571 So.2d 239 (Miss.1990), for the proposition that since his fees were approved by court order, and no attempt was made to invalidate a chancellor's orders, then evidence which would render those orders invalid was non-existent on appeal. *Farris v. State*, 764 So.2d at 425. "He points to *Hinds County Bd. of Supervisors v. Common Cause*, 551 So.2d 107 (Miss.1989), and M.R.C.P. 60(b), which outline the proper procedure for attacking the validity of a chancery court judgment. Farris's reliance on these authorities is misplaced." The Court continued:

Common Cause and Rule 60(b) both address the proper avenue for attacking chancery court judgments in *civil* matters. Today we are faced not with a civil matter, but with a criminal conspiracy case which was perpetrated through the veil of chancery court authority. A guardian *ad litem* does not enjoy immunity from our criminal law just because a chancellor has made the appointment and subsequently orders attorney fees. Any actor, regardless of official authority, who commits a crime against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi, and who is subject to the jurisdiction of this sovereign State, shall be held responsible for his actions according to the law of this State and the supreme law of the United States. Miss. Const. Art. 6, § 156.

Herring involved the recusal of three sitting Chancellors from a child custody case where a Special Chancellor was appointed by a recusal order to hear the case. 571 So.2d at 239. Subsequent to the recusal order, one of the previously recused Chancellors stepped back

into the fray and entered an order overruling a motion for his recusal. *Id.* at 241-42. We reversed and remanded, holding that, "In the absence of some valid order setting aside ... [the original recusal order], the only person authorized to hear this case was [the Special Chancellor]." *Id.* at 243. We also held that the orders of the Special Chancellor were not subject to collateral attack. *Id.*

Farris v. State, 764 So.2d at 425.

For the same reasons, Conwill, should be precluded from collaterally attacking the orders of Judge Agin, a Specially Appointed Circuit Judge. *Id.* But for Conwill's perjury to Judge Chapman, a special appointment would have been unnecessary, and the law should not reward Conwill's false testimony with procedural advantage.

Analogous to the *Farris* argument concerning the integration of Miss.R.Civ.P. 60(b) and chancery court jurisdiction as a procedural/ constitutional defenses in a criminal case, Conwill pleads that this Court recognize a mythical creature akin to Miss.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) or 56.

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